SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 20 2018

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

		Jorge Navarrete Clerk	
FACEBOOK, INC.,)		
)	Deputy	
Petitioner,)		
V.)	Supreme Court No. S245203	•
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,)	Court of Appeal No. D072171	
Respondent.)	Superior Court No. SCD268262	
LANCE TOUCHSTONE,)		
Real Party in Interest.)		

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST TOUCHSTONE'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division One, No. D072171 Filed September 26, 2017

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) If, on remand and in conjunction with continuing pretrial proceedings, the prosecution lists the victim as a witness who will testify at trial (see Pen. Code, §§ 1054.1, subd. (a); 1054.7) and if the materiality of the sought communications is shown, does the trial court have authority, pursuant to statutory and/or inherent power to control litigation before it and to insure fair proceedings, to order the victim witness (or any other listed witness), on pain of sanctions, to either (a) comply with a subpoena served on him or her, seeking disclosure of the sought communications subject to in camera review and any appropriate protective or limiting conditions, or (b) consent to disclosure by provider Facebook subject to in camera review and any appropriate protective or limiting conditions?
- (2) Would a court order under either (1)(a) or (1)(b) be valid under the Stored Communications Act, 18 U.S.C., section 2702(b)(3)?
- (3) Assuming orders described in (1) cannot properly be issued and enforced in conjunction with continuing pretrial proceedings, does the trial court have authority, on an appropriate showing during trial, to issue and enforce such orders?
- (4) Would a court order contemplated under (3) be proper under the Stored Communications Act, 18 U.S.C., section 2702(b)(3)?
- (5) As an alternative to options (1) or (3) set forth above, may the trial court, acting pursuant to statutory and/or inherent authority to control the litigation before it and to insure fair proceedings, and consistently with 18 U.S.C. section 2702(b)(3), order the prosecution to issue a search warrant under 18 U.S.C. section 2703 regarding the sought communications? (Cf. *State v. Bray* (Or. Ct.App. 2016) 383 P.3d 883, pets. for rev. accepted June 15, 2017, 397 P.3d 30 [S064843, the state's pet.]; 397 P.3d 37 [S064846, the defendant's pet.].) In this regard, what is the effect, if any, of California Constitution, article I, sections 15 and 24?

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In August 2016, Lance Touchstone drove to San Diego, California, to visit his sister Rebecca Touchstone. When he arrived, he discovered that Rebecca's boyfriend, Jeffrey Renteria, had moved into her home. Over the next several days, Touchstone observed odd behavior by Renteria.

Touchstone grew concerned for their safety on August 8, 2016, when he and Rebecca noticed that Rebecca's personal firearms were missing from the home. Renteria was also missing and appeared to have moved out of the house. When Touchstone and Rebecca attempted to contact Renteria over the phone about the missing firearms, Renteria threatened that he was coming to harm Touchstone and Rebecca. Hours later, while Touchstone and Rebecca were home alone, Renteria burst through the front door and lunged at them. Touchstone, armed with his personal handgun, immediately fired at Renteria, hitting him three times. None of the wounds were fatal.

Touchstone set aside his weapon, called 911, and was ultimately arrested for assault. He was compliant and cooperative with responding officers, giving a detailed explanation of the day's events and efforts to defend himself and his sister against Renteria. He was ultimately charged in San Diego County Superior Court with violating California Penal Code sections 664 and 187 for attempted murder, with allegations of personal use of a firearm and personal infliction of great bodily injury within the meaning of California Penal Code sections 12022.5(a) and 12022.7(a). Touchstone plead not guilty to the charge and allegations, which expose him to a maximum of twenty-two years in State Prison.

Since the shooting, Renteria has actively posted updates and messages on his personal Facebook account. He posted updates of his physical recovery from the hospital and requested private messages over the Facebook messaging system. He posted updates of court hearings in this case and sought community participation at the preliminary hearing. As he continued

a romantic relationship with Rebecca, Renteria posted comments about killing her. He posted about using drugs and the impact those drugs had on his mental health. He posted about his personal use of guns and described in detail his desire to rob and kill people. These posts were displayed on the public portion of his Facebook page, which are visible to all users.

On February 26, 2017, Touchstone requested that the prosecution produce Renteria's Facebook records. The prosecution declined to do so. Touchstone then filed a Motion to Compel, which was denied.

On March 16, 2017, Respondent Court signed a subpoena duces tecum ordering Facebook to produce Renteria's Facebook records. The subpoena was supported by a sealed declaration from defense counsel providing a basis of relevance and materiality for the records to be obtained. Facebook responded by filing a Motion to Quash.

On April 27, 2017, the Honorable Kenneth So issued a ruling denying the motion to quash and ordered that the records be produced by Facebook for an *in camera* review. The Court found that "Touchstone has a due process right to the information to defend himself on a very serious case that Facebook might have possession of... there is a due process right to the information..." (Facebook's Appendix of Exhibits to the Court of Appeal in D072171 ("AE") at p. 131-132.)

Facebook filed a petition to the Fourth Appellate District Court of Appeal requesting that the Superior Court's April 27, 2017, ruling be vacated and that Facebook's Motion to Quash be granted. After briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued a ruling on September 26, 2017, granting Facebook's petition and directing the trial court to vacate its April 27, 2017, order.

Touchstone filed a petition for review with the California Supreme Court on November 2, 2017. Touchstone submits this petition to California's highest court in order to address an important and novel issue of law regarding a criminal defendant's constitutional right to discovery—specifically the right to obtain a witness' social media records—in light of the federal Stored Communications Act, 18 U.S.C., section 2701, et seq., (hereinafter SCA or Act), which prohibits production of these records to any party other than the prosecutor, a government entity.

In granting Touchstone's petition for review, this Court requested briefing on the above issues presented. In this opening brief, Touchstone addresses these issues and incorporates by reference the arguments asserted in his original petition for review and at the Court of Appeal.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN RULING THAT CRIMINAL DEFENDANTS DO NOT HAVE A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRETRIAL DISCOVERY OF SOCIAL MEDIA RECORDS DIRECTLY FROM SERVICE PROVIDERS UPON A SUFFICIENT SHOWING THAT THE REQUESTED RECORDS ARE NECESSARY FOR DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL

Real Party in Interest Touchstone persists in his assertion that the right to pretrial discovery—such as the social media records sought in this case—is constitutional and that any law diminishing the criminal defendant's right to pretrial discovery should be limited or overruled to permit the fair exchange of relevant and exculpatory evidence in criminal cases. The records are necessary to ensure that Touchstone achieves a fair trial, which is guaranteed by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I of the California Constitution. These records are necessary to ensure the full and fair expression of his rights to confrontation, cross examination, assistance of counsel, and compulsory process guaranteed by state and federal constitutions. These records should be available to Touchstone in the earliest stage of criminal proceedings once their relevance has been shown, because they are necessary to put forth an effective and intelligent affirmative defense to the charges against him.

To the extent that the SCA deprives Touchstone of his rights by prohibiting the production of necessary records during the pretrial stages of the case, it is unconstitutional. Otherwise viable alternatives to obtain these records are inadequate and insufficient as applied to this case, yet the records remain imperative and necessary to the case in order for Touchstone to assert his affirmative defense. Thus it is timely and appropriate for this Court to address the constitutionality of the SCA. The Act currently fails to accommodate the criminal defendant's constitutional rights to pretrial discovery, confrontation, cross examination, compulsory process, adequate defense counsel, and a fair trial. Therefore, it must be altered or amended to include a method by which a criminal defendant can obtain those records necessary for his defense.

Short of ruling the SCA unconstitutional, the trial court could order the records produced directly from the user or order the user to consent to the production by Facebook. However, this method comes with inherent and logistical obstacles that render it ineffective or inapplicable in numerous circumstances, including the circumstances presented in this case. Alternatively, the Court may rule that the records be obtained via discovery orders compelling the prosecutor's office to produce, since the prosecutor is a government entity with exclusive control over the records by function of the SCA. No matter the means, method, or procedural configuration, the United States and California Constitutions demand that Touchstone obtain these records for use at trial in support of his affirmative defense and in order to exercise his right to a fair trial. Depriving him of these records will result in a deprivation of due process and a degradation of the truth-seeking features that are deeply rooted in California's criminal justice system.

I. THE TRIAL COURT HAS AUTHORITY TO CONTROL LITIGATION AND ENSURE FAIR PROCEEDINGS BY ISSUING PRETRIAL DISCOVERY ORDERS DIRECTING WITNESSES TO PRODUCE RECORDS; HOWEVER, SUCH ORDERS WILL BE INEFFECTIVE IN CERTAIN FACTUAL CIRCUMSTANCES.

The trial court has authority, pursuant to statutory and inherent powers to control litigation and insure fair proceedings, to order Renteria to comply with a subpoena served on him or consent to disclosure of the records by Facebook. Such pretrial orders are consistent with judicial and legislative intent to provide efficient and effective judicial proceedings governed by trial court judges. Such pretrial orders do not violate or offend the SCA. However, as discussed below and in Section II, orders directed at witnesses themselves are rife with obstacles that, in some circumstances, render the order ineffective. For example, a witness may never avail themselves to the court process, or, if they do, the witness may have valid constitutional rights prohibiting compliance with the order. Finally, if compliance by the witness is achieved, the record provider may elect not to participate in the production. Although the trial court has ample authority to order consent or compliance from testifying witnesses, such a procedure is only appropriate and effective in circumstances when there are no impediments to such a production. Impediments to the production in this case exist that render the suggested methods of production inviable.

A. The exchange of pretrial discovery is an imperative and essential operation in criminal justice proceedings that is supported by statute and case law.

The importance of reciprocal discovery in the pretrial stages of a criminal case was reinforced by California voters in June 1990 by the adoption of Proposition 115, which gives effect to the following significant goals in criminal proceedings:

(a) To promote the ascertainment of truth in trials by requiring timely pretrial discovery.

- (b) To save court time by requiring that discovery be conducted informally between and among the parties before judicial enforcement is requested.
- (c) To save court time in trial and avoid the necessity for frequent interruptions and postponements.
- (d) To protect victims and witnesses from danger, harassment, and *undue delay* of the proceedings.
- (e) To provide that no discovery shall occur in criminal cases except as provided by this chapter, other express statutory provisions, or as mandated by the Constitution of the United States.

(Cal. Pen. Code, § 1054, subd. (a)-(e), emphasis added.) By enacting Proposition 115, California voters and the State Legislature illuminated the supreme importance of timely, efficient, and uninterrupted discovery as a key feature to "the ascertainment of truth" in criminal cases. (Cal. Pen. Code, § 1054, subd. (a).) Thus, "timely pretrial discovery" has been a specifically-stated goal in California criminal proceedings for nearly thirty years. (*Id.*)

To further promote these goals in the context of ongoing criminal cases, California Rule of Court 10.953 expressly provides that "[s]uperior courts...must, in cooperation with the district attorney and defense bar, adopt procedures to facilitate dispositions before the preliminary hearing and at all other stages of the proceedings," including "[e]arly, voluntary, informal discovery, consistent with part 2, title 6, chapter 10 of the Penal Code (commencing with section 1054)." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 10.953; see Cal. Const., art. VI § 6, subd. (d).) Both the legislative and judicial branches of California agree that early discovery exchanges, explicitly occurring "before the preliminary hearing and at all other stages of the proceedings," is an invaluable component to a well-functioning and effective criminal justice system. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 10.953.)

For those seeking to manipulate or depart from the firmly-stated intentions of the legislature and Judicial Council in promoting early and open pretrial discovery, the Penal Code itself reminds us that "[a]ll its provisions

are to be construed according to the fair import of their terms, with a view to effect its objects and to promote justice." (Cal. Pen. Code, § 4; cf. People v. Gohdes (1997) 58 Cal. App. 4th 1520, 1525-26 ["The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law"].) When the Penal Code itself introduces the rules governing discovery with the explicit intent "to promote the ascertainment of truth in trials by requiring timely pretrial discovery," one cannot disabuse the Court of this purpose. (Cal. Pen. Code, § 1054, subd. (a); cf. Holman v. Superior Court (1981) 29 Cal.3d 480, 486, (conc. opn. of Bird, C.J.) ["This court has recognized that the scope of permissible discovery must be enlarged to promote the orderly ascertainment of the truth"].) The clear intention of lawmakers, voters, and the Judicial Council is to promote truth-seeking in the justice system through pretrial discovery procedures that prevent delay, postponement, and waste of the courts' time. Efforts to deny or dissuade from this principle run afoul of the very notions of justice and truth-seeking that must govern every criminal proceeding in this state. The truth about a key witness or significant facts surrounding a criminal act should not be hidden from light when their relevance and materiality have been effectively demonstrated to the trial court, who in turn has determined that due process demands the records be produced.

Yet Facebook proposes such a conclusion in the instant case, asking the Court to enforce the SCA in spite of the Act's glaring oversight as it relates to the rights of the criminally accused. Facebook is only doing their job, by narrowly promoting the privacy rights of their users, who represent tremendous worth and value to their corporation, and thoroughly avoiding acknowledgement of the constitutional rights owed to Touchstone. However, this Court also has a job to do, and that job is to enforce the state and federal constitutions that protect Touchstone's right to due process and a fair trial. (Hammarley v. Superior Court (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 388, 402, ["The

judiciary has a solemn obligation to insure that the constitutional right of an accused to a fair trial is realized. If that right would be thwarted by enforcement of a statute, the statute... must yield"]; see also *Marbury v. Madison* (1803) 5 U.S. 137, 177, ["an act of the legislature [that is] repugnant to the constitution, is void and does not bind the judiciary"].)

Touchstone needs these records to obtain a fair trial and due process. Every effort should be exhausted in getting the records to him within the law, with the goals and principles of due process and judicial fairness omnipresent in the minds of the Court and all parties. There is no constitutional reason for this production not to occur during the pretrial stages of the case, particularly when the need for the records has been clearly demonstrated to the court at an early stage of the proceedings.

B. The trial court's authority to control litigation and order witness compliance is supported by case law and consistent with federal law.

It is not disputed that "courts have inherent equity, supervisory and administrative powers as well as inherent power to control litigation before them." (Cottle v. Superior Court (1992) 3 Cal.App.4th 1367, 1377, citation omitted; Mowrer v. Superior Court (1969) 3 Cal.App.3d 223, 230.) "A trial court has inherent as well as statutory discretion to control the proceedings to ensure the efficacious administration of justice." (Juror Number One v. Superior Court (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 854, 866, quoting People v. Cox (1991) 53 Cal.3d 618, 700.) This power is reasonably rooted in the interest of "guard[ing] against inept procedures and unnecessary indulgences which would tend to hinder, hamper or delay the conduct and dispatch of its proceedings." (People v. Mattson (1959) 51 Cal. 2d 777, 792.)

In terms of controlling discovery procedures, the trial court "has inherent power to order discovery when the interests of justice so demand." (*Pitchess v. Superior Court* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 531, 535.) In fact, "[a]

defendant's motion to discover is addressed solely to the sound discretion of the trial court...." (Holman v. Super. Ct., supra, 29 Cal.3d at p. 483, citations omitted.) However, "[t]he exercise of a judicial power over criminal discovery which inheres in courts when the Legislature is silent must be tempered and restrained when the Legislature has spoken... it would be inappropriate to exercise our inherent powers in conflict with existing legislation." (Ibid., citing People v. Municipal Court (Runyan) (1978) 20 Cal.3d 523, 528.)

For this reason, Courts of Appeal have developed alternative methods to obtain discovery that is subject to the prohibitions of the SCA, such as the social media records sought in the instant case. Seeking alternative methods to obtain discovery is not inappropriate, as "courts have the power to fashion a new procedure... to manage and control the case before them." (Cottle, supra, 3 Cal.App.4th at p. 1380.) In Juror Number One v. Superior Court, the Third District Court of Appeal held that a juror in a criminal trial (referred to as "Juror Number One") could be compelled to produce his own Facebook records to the trial court for a juror misconduct hearing, and could similarly be compelled by the trial court to consent to disclosure of the records by Facebook. (Juror Number One, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th 854.) According to the Third Appellate District, "as part of its inherent power to control the proceedings before it and to assure real parties in interest a fair trial," the trial court "had the authority to order Juror Number One to disclose the messages he posted to Facebook during the criminal trial..." (Id. at pp. 865-66.) The Sixth Appellate District reinforced these methods, finding that, "insofar as the [Stored Communications] Act permits a given disclosure, it permits a court to compel that disclosure under state law." (Negro v. Superior Court (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 879, 904.) The court in Negro noted that "courts in a variety of other settings have compelled parties to consent to a third party's disclosure of material where such consent was a prerequisite to its production," specifically finding that court-ordered consent in this manner was effective in satisfying the SCA. (*Id.* at p. 897.)

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