No. S245203

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 1 9 2018

FACEBOOK, INC.,

Petitioner.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,

٧.

Respondent;

LANCE TOUCHSTONE,

Real Party in Interest.

After Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, No. D072171; Superior Court of San Diego County, No. SCD268262, Hon. Kenneth So, Presiding Judge

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PERKINS COIE LLP

JAMES G. SNELL, SBN 173070 jsnell@perkinscoie.com CHRISTIAN LEE, SBN 301671 clee@perkinscoie.com 3150 Porter Drive Palo Alto, CA 94304 tel: 650.838.4300, fax: 650.838.4350

GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP

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

ARGUMENT

I. Defendant Has Several Ways To Obtain the Materials He Seeks Without Requiring Facebook To Violate Federal Law

Defendant does not dispute that the SCA forbids Facebook from disclosing victim Jeffrey R.'s Facebook communications without his consent: under 18 U.S.C. § 2702(a), Facebook must "not knowingly divulge to any person or entity the contents" of communications it stores, and it faces civil liability if it violates that prohibition. (*Id.* § 2707(a).)

Defendant argues that the SCA violates his constitutional rights as a criminal defendant, but this Court should not consider his constitutional challenge because it is premature; as the Court of Appeal held, Defendant has not exhausted the other ways available to him to obtain the content he seeks. Under the doctrine of constitutional avoidance, courts should avoid reaching constitutional questions unnecessarily. (*People v. Navarro* (2007)

40 Cal.4th 668, 675.) Defendant's constitutional challenge is easily avoided because it incorrectly presumes that Facebook is the only source for the information he seeks.

This Court's questions to the parties highlight some of Defendant's alternatives, which include seeking content from the Facebook account holder, from any of the people with whom that account holder communicated, or from the prosecution. And if Defendant fails to obtain the evidence he seeks from those sources, the trial court has various tools it can employ, if necessary, to protect Defendant's right to a fair trial without violating the SCA. Defendant comes before this Court without having exhausted any of those options.

A. Defendant can obtain a witness's communications by issuing a subpoena to the witness himself.

This Court's Question 1 asks:

If, on remand and in conjunction with continuing pretrial proceedings, the prosecution lists the victim as a witness who will testify at trial and if the material of the sought communications is shown, does the trial court have authority, pursuant to statutory and/or inherent power to control litigation before it and to ensure fair proceedings, to order the victim witness (or any other listed witness), on pain of sanctions, to either (a) comply with a subpoena served on him or her, seeking disclosure of the sought communications subject to in camera review and any appropriate protective or limiting conditions, or (b) consent to disclosure by provider Facebook subject to in camera review and any appropriate protective or limiting conditions?

In response, Facebook states its view that a trial court may order the victim or another witness to comply with subpoenas issued by Defendant, including by ordering the victim or witnesses to consent to disclosure by Facebook. But Defendant has made little effort to obtain any records by subpoena.

1. Criminal defendants may issue subpoenas and courts may enforce them, including by ordering the witness to consent to disclosure.

The Penal Code authorizes criminal defendants to issue subpoenas to non-parties, and trial courts have authority to enforce compliance. (Pen. Code, § 1326, subds. (a)(1)–(4).)

If a subpoena recipient fails to comply with a valid subpoena without good cause, the court may enforce compliance by holding the recipient in contempt of court. (Pen. Code, § 1331.) The court may also penalize the recipient by requiring him or her to pay the defendant a fee. (*Ibid.*) If those sanctions prove inadequate, the court may fashion alternative remedies to ensure defendants a fair trial, including sanctioning the prosecution, issuing limiting instructions, prohibiting certain areas of testimony, striking witnesses, and even dismissing charges. (See *Kling v. Super. Ct.* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1068, 1078 ["[A] third party's refusal to produce documents requested by the defense can potentially result in sanctions being applied against the People."]; see also Pen. Code, § 1054.5, subd. (b) [orders may include "immediate disclosure, contempt proceedings, delaying or prohibiting the testimony of a witness or the presentation of real evidence, continuance of the matter, or any other lawful order"].)

In the context at issue here, there is no question that the trial court may order a person to obtain and disclose her own social-media records. Those records are within a person's custody and control, as numerous courts have held. (See *Negro v. Super. Ct.* (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 879, 897–898 [reviewing cases].) Alternatively, some courts have ordered the account holder to consent to *the provider's* production of his records. (See, e.g., *O'Grady, supra*, 139 Cal.App.4th at p. 1446; *Juror No. One v. Super. Ct.* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 854, 865 ["If the court can compel Juror Number One to produce the information, it can likewise compel Juror Number One

to consent to the disclosure by Facebook."].)¹ The downside of that approach, however, is that it may not be clear to the provider whether the account holder has actually consented to the release of her records. (See *Negro*, *supra*, 230 Cal.App.4th at p. 898 [disclosure requires an account holder's "actual" express consent, as opposed to consent "imputed" by the court].) Further, there could be ambiguity over the scope of the consent and which records it covers. An order requiring a person to acquire and produce her own records eliminates that problem.

A subpoena may also issue to the recipient of an electronic communication. Recipients of communications, like senders, are not subject to any disclosure prohibition under the SCA. Thus, the court may also enforce subpoenas served on recipients of electronic communications. (18 U.S.C § 2702(b)(3).)

2. Defendant has not exhausted attempts to subpoena witnesses for the records he seeks.

Although Defendant can obtain email and social media records by subpoening the senders and recipients of those communications, he has made little attempt to do so.

Defendant has not subpoenaed the victim because he claims he cannot locate him. But the Court of Appeal was "not persuaded that Touchstone exhausted his efforts to locate the victim," and rightfully so. (Pet'n for Review, Ex. A, at p. 24.) Indeed, defense counsel's entire attempt to locate the victim consisted of leaving business cards at two of the victim's known addresses. (*Ibid.*) That is not sufficient.

¹ (See also *In re Irish Bank Res. Corp. Ltd.* (Bankr.D.Del. 2016) 559 B.R. 627, 649; *Al Noaimi v. Zaid* (D.Kan. Oct. 5, 2012, No. 11-1156), 2012 WL 4758048, at *3; *In re Subpoena Duces Tecum to AOL, LLC* (E.D.Va. 2008) 550 F.Supp.2d 606, 614 fn. 5; *Glazer v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.* (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 5, 2012, No. 11-CIV-4374), 2012 WL 1197167, at *3.)

In *People v. Cromer* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 889, 904, this Court held that "due diligence" in locating a witness "connotes persevering application, untiring efforts in good earnest, efforts of a substantial character." Because the prosecution in *Cromer* made only "five or six" attempts to locate the witness over a one-month period, the Court held that the prosecution had failed to exercise diligence in searching for the witness. (*Ibid*; see also *People v. Sanders* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 475, 524–525 [defense counsel was "insufficiently diligent" in locating witness because its efforts "were minimal, consisting of a single phone call to [the witness'] former work number and several visits to her former address" and "no relatives, friends, or coworkers appear to have been contacted"]; *People v. Walton* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1004, 1010 [defense counsel's efforts to locate witness were insufficient because he did not "check local hospitals; check local jails; obtain [witness'] high school records; ask the district attorney for a current address"], disapproved of on standard-of-review grounds in *Cromer*, *supra*].)

Defendant's lack of diligence in locating the victim is even more inexplicable given that Defendant's sister and the victim have been "in and out" of a relationship that persisted well past Defendant's arrest. (App'x 129–130; OB 9–10.) The record does not include a single mention of Defendant asking his own sister (or anyone else) for help locating the victim.

Nor did Defendant seek the prosecution's help in locating the victim. (See *People v. Goliday* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 771, 778 [prosecution must "undertake reasonable efforts in good faith to locate [a witness] so that either party or the court itself...could, if it so desired, subpoena him as a witness"] [citation omitted].) Not only is it "reasonable to infer that the prosecution will be in contact with [the victim]"—as the Court of Appeal observed (Pet'n for Review, Ex. A, at p. 24)—but defense counsel actually knew that the prosecution was in contact with the victim. (App'x 95, 99.) Yet, there is no

record evidence of defense counsel asking the prosecution for assistance in serving a subpoena. Rather, defense counsel repeatedly pressed for an inperson "interview" with the victim, despite being told that this would be difficult to arrange due to the attempted-murder victim's fear of the Defendant. (App'x 95, 97.)²

Defendant also did not seek the trial court's assistance in serving a subpoena on the victim. (Pet'n for Review, Ex. A, at p. 24 ["It does not appear that Touchstone has sought a court order directing the People to assist in serving the subpoena"].) Even if the prosecution failed to assist Defendant in serving a subpoena on the victim—and nothing in the record suggests that Defendant even made that request—Defendant's first recourse should have been to the trial court.

Defendant has also made no attempt to seek records from the recipients of the victim's communications. As the Court of Appeal held, "the records Touchstone seeks are also available by subpoena to any addressee or intended recipient of the private communications. Touchstone made no showing that he contacted any of the victim's Facebook 'friends' who were recipients of the private communications to obtain the desired information." (Pet'n for Review, Ex. A, at p. 25 [citation omitted].)

Defendant could have initiated a search for recipient communications by seeking documents from his own sister, who, as the victim's girlfriend, presumably would have received at least some of the victim's Facebook posts

² There is also nothing improper or unusual about expecting defense counsel to work with the prosecution to locate witnesses. (See *Williams v. Florida* (1970) 399 U.S. 78 ["The adversary system of trial is hardly an end in itself; it is not yet a poker game in which players enjoy an absolute right always to conceal their cards until played. We find ample room in that system, at least as far as 'due process' is concerned, for . . . [rules] designed to enhance the search for truth in the criminal trial by insuring both the defendant and the State ample opportunity to investigate certain facts crucial to the determination of guilt or innocence."].)

and other communications and can provide Defendant any communication he desires. And if Defendant did not want to subpoena his sister, he could have subpoenaed any other potential recipient of the victim's private messages. Defendant has never stated that he is unaware of the victim's circle of friends and contacts, but even if he is unaware, he could have learned about the victim's circle of contacts from the public materials Defendant downloaded from the victim's Facebook page. But Defendant made none of those efforts.

Despite making virtually no attempt to locate records from the many sources that the SCA permits, Defendant is asking this Court to invalidate an act of Congress because of his alleged inability to obtain the victim's email and social media records. His appeal fails for this reason alone. (See *U.S. v. Pierce* (2d Cir. 2015) 785 F.3d 832, 842 [affirming order granting Facebook's motion to quash subpoena in part because defendant "failed to subpoena" the Facebook account holder].)

3. Defendant cannot challenge the SCA based on speculation that subpoening the victim will be ineffective.

Unable to defend his failure to seek records from the victim, Defendant offers a slew of excuses for why any subpoena might be ineffectual. Each excuse fails.

First, as explained above, the victim is not the only source of the private social media communications that Defendant seeks. Defendant could also subpoena recipients (*ante* p. 22), and he offers no reason why that would be ineffective.

Second, Defendant speculates that the victim could spoliate or fail to produce all relevant records. (OB 22–24.) But that is a risk with any third-party discovery, and such a risk cannot convert every discovery abuse into a constitutional violation. As the Court of Appeal observed, there is nothing

new or novel about uncooperative witnesses: the concern applies "equally to paper documents and [is] not unique to electronic documents stored by third party providers." (Pet'n for Review, Ex. A, at p. 24.) The mere potential for third-party spoliation does not permit a defendant to obtain evidence in ways that violate federal law. For example, if a defendant fears that a third-party witness will throw away a piece of mail critical to his defense, that does not entitle the defendant to search through the witness's mailbox or home to obtain the letter.

Third, Defendant speculates that even if the victim complies with a subpoena, the records he can access are "different" from what Facebook can access. (OB 22.) But Defendant offers no record support for that theory, and there is none. As Facebook explained to Defendant, account holders can obtain all content stored in their accounts by using the Download Your Information Tool, or by logging into their accounts and downloading responsive information. (App'x 28.) Defendant complains that Facebook requires an account holder to click in "four separate locations," but never explains why this means an account holder cannot download his "complete record." (OB 22.)

Fourth, Defendant speculates that the victim has "deactivated" his Facebook account, and that deactivation "destroy[s] all information that was previously available." (OB 23.) Again, Defendant offers no record support for this claim. Defense counsel apparently tried to access the victim's Facebook page and received a message stating: "[n]o permission to access this profile." (*Ibid.*) But Defendant never explains why this means that any content has been "destroy[ed]." (*Ibid.*)

³ Further, if the content is "destroyed," as Defendant claims, then Facebook would likely have no greater ability to access it than Defendant or any other party. This would leave Defendant in the same position as a destroyed analog communication; if a witness were to burn a letter, a criminal defendant

Fifth, Defendant claims that the victim may refuse to produce documents by invoking the Fifth Amendment. This is more speculation, as Defendant has not even subpoenaed the victim, let alone provided him an opportunity to comply with that subpoena.

In any event, the Fifth Amendment does not permit witnesses to refuse to produce documents like the ones at issue here. A witness may invoke the Fifth Amendment only if the act of producing the documents reveals something new about the documents' existence or location. (U.S. v. Hubbell (2000) 530 U.S. 27, 44–45; In re Grand Jury Subpoena, Dated Apr. 18, 2003 (9th Cir. 2004) 383 F.3d 905, 910.) Where the existence and location of the subpoenaed documents are a "foregone conclusion" and the witness "adds little or nothing" by conceding he has the documents, there is no Fifth Amendment privilege against production because the production becomes a "question . . . not of testimony but of surrender." (Fisher v. U.S. (1976) 425 U.S. 391, 411.) Courts regularly compel production of account documents when the existence of the account is already known. (See, e.g., Doe v. U.S. (1988) 487 U.S. 201, 215–217 [requiring defendant to agree to production of bank-account documents]; U.S. v. Bright (9th Cir. 2010) 596 F.3d 683, 692– 693 [request for credit-card account histories did not implicate the Fifth Amendment because prosecution was already aware of account existence]; U.S. v. Norwood (8th Cir. 2005) 420 F.3d 888, 895–896 [same]; Sallah v. Worldwide Clearing LLC (S.D.Fla. 2012) 855 F.Supp.2d 1364, 1372 [subpoena requesting account histories did not require defendant to employ the "contents of [her] mind"].)

would be similarly unable to gain access to its contents. (See O'Grady, supra, at p. 1445 ["Traditional communications rarely afforded any comparable possibility of discovery [to electronic communications]. After a letter was delivered, all tangible evidence . . . remained in the sole possession and control of the recipient "].)

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